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O: 27 January the formal signing ceremonies took i
m-.. nM“M_.““ “Mv_n no_nm separate copies of the ww..onin._.l.;ﬂ””o 4\.“”_”: ]
“parties,” _v.“o_.”—_ d out on the table before the foreign ministers oﬂnx. ¥ |
~partie .8::80 y mo%_.ng of wSR.«SEwE Rogers and his Zoq””n fou
namese ¢ o?ro_.wrn”.:v:n:vmg Duy Trinh, signed all of them. The F, Vie.
Coinisters of the Rer c of wo...n- Vietnam and the Provisional ﬁo<o_5.9n_9
Ceavectivn sl uowrnnm,-__...u-_n:_.“nﬂwn _Mno each, under the signatures oho”__”#
for n.>u~ 10.._4 have implied E:EM_ _.”M“nw-wﬁ together on say singl oa_“-. |
o anm o“wﬂh _n.__. nE_M ﬂ”.n:hzw ww_w.oa time, 28 January 1973, the cease-fire
into cff :..o 0 the o ] . choly wail of the city’s air-raid system. I stood oot 1
Pore e B ote! | and 828& the new era with a Bloody Mary on the
lighter sde. Lo Eunﬂ-“.wnga import, the advent of peace was not s.:.ro: i
[hter side. In his I 0 conclude the agreement, Kissinger had fo -
igon all the changes he had made in the text during the —_Mw—_ma
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In Good Faith

and win

nonths that bracketed the signing of the Paris peace

i in a snow-white room, a North Vietnamese prisoner of war who had been
solitary confinement for the past year and & half. His name was Nguyen Van

.. A former deputy minister of “‘public security” in North Vietnam, Tai hac:
foe south in 1962 to take charge of the Communist counterespionage anc

st network in Saigon and had helped engineer the spectacular attack om

.‘v U.S. Embassy in 1968. During his long career he had been responsible for

ous assassinations and terrorist acts, and when in December 1970 he was
ed in mufti during a government dragnet south of Saigon, he hed nor

treated kindly. With American help the South Vietnamese had built him
-own prison cell and interrogation room, both totally white, totally bare

for a table, s chair, an open hole for a toilet—and ubiquitous hiddem

sion cameras and microphones to record his every waking and sleeping

p. Like many Vietnamese, he belicved his blood vessels contracted when

B was exposed to frigid air. His quarters and interrogation room had thus been
itted with heavy-duty air conditioners and been kept thoroughly chille.
- South Vietnamese interrogators had spent over eight months with bim
¢ his capture, trying to break him. They were unsuccessful. He told ome
N tormentors, “I'll shoot you down in the street if I ever get out.” In ear?y

. guﬂ%&maggg&i. He had made some progress
nting Tai with former subordinates who had either defected to tine
ent or had likewise been captured. Their testimony and face-to-face

Moatations with him forced him to surrender part of the false identity amd

stary, but once having been exposed to these accusers, he also knew juwst

L much incriminating evidence the government had on him, how much he
admit and how much he could continue to conceal.
e .
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32 First Rites

In the meantime, unknown to Tai himself, he had become the focus of
one of the most delicate U.S. intelligence operations ever mounted in South
Vietnam, one that seemed to hold the key to the release of countless American
prisoners of war. The case dated back to 1967, three years before his capture,
In August of that year the head of the secret Communist party organization
in Saigon, a man named Tran Bach Dang, had contacted our Embassy through
an emissary in Cambodia and offered to open negotiations on a possible pris-
oner exchange and on other “political issues.” A subsequent contact revealed
that Dang was angling for the release of ten high-level Communist operatives.

Despite the significance of the overture, not everyone in Saigon and

Washington was receptive. President Nguyen Van Thieu was reluctant to

release the ten prisoners on Dang’s list because all were dedicated Communists
and foes of his regime. CIA officials in Washington sympathized with his view.
Only after considerable debatc was a deal arranged. In December 1967 the
Sonth Vietnamese handed two Jow-ranking prisoners over to the Communists,
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unist request for reciprocity. In return for his freedom, Dang was
1¢ the release of two of his senior operatives within the next three
; Oua'on them was a Communist labor agitator named Le Van Hoai. The
2 was Nguyen Van Tai, the denizen of the government’s snow-white cell
4 been captured the previous December.
Vorking against the short deadline, U.S. and South Vietnamese officials
every aspect of the proposal, the potential advantages and disadvan-
Uhtimately Thieu, seconded by the CIA, rejected it. Sexton was a mere
t*: the two prisoners the Communists wanted for him were among the
B ranking enemy agents ever to fall into government hands.
he deadline was thus allowed to pass. For days the Communists seemed
B ve lost interest. Then, on 27 October 1971, Dang’s emissary again con-
the Embassy. In exchange for Hoai and Tai, the caller said, the Commu-
willing to offer a “high-ranking” American, Douglas K. Ramsey,
' Service officer whom they had seized north of Saigon in 1966.

one of them Dang’s own wife, and Dang in turn promptly freed two Ameri-
cans, Marine Corporal José Agosto-Santos and Army Private Luis Ortiz-
Rivera. Thieu then released two of Dang’s original nominees and two substi-
tutes. At the same time the Embassy passed a list to the Communists of ten
Americans for whom it wanted an accounting.

That ended the bargaining for the time being. Dang responded to neither
Thieu’s gesture nor our request. Instead, two weeks afterward, in late February
1968, Communist forces throughout South Vietnam launched the first phase
of their Tet “general offensive.” There were no further private exchanges on
the prisoner issue until the offensive had run its course.

Finally, a year later, contacts were reopened at the Comunists’ initia-
tive. In mid-January 1969 a French-speaking female who claimed to represent
Dang telephoned the Embassy and proposed renewed discussions. Fearing
another communications blackout, Embassy officials decided to try to make
the most of the opening. They told the caller they wished to “identify” the
prisoners available for release; in other words, they wanted a list of Americans
in Communist prison camps. The request evidently did not impress Dang. The
emissary did not call back.

The circuits remained silent for another year and a half, then abruptly
came alive again in July 1971. Quite unexpectedly the Communist Provisional
Revolutionary Government sent a letter to the Embassy requesting a special
telephone number that could be used for-continued discussions of the prisoner
issue. The Embassy duly supplied one, publishing it in a bogus newspaper ad
in one of the Saigon dailies, as suggested in the letter.

For the next three months CIA operatives sat by an Embassy phone
specially keyed to the number, but no one ever called. At last, in carly October
1971, there was a surprise breakthrough. With almost no prior arrangement,
the Communists released Army Sergeant John Sexton, who had been a pris-
oner of theirs for over a year. When the American trudged out of the jungle

noul, Cambodia, he carried with him

he proposal set off a frantic debate in the Embassy and in Washington.
Bhv the Communists were raising the stakes, but if they were so anxious
: back both Hoai and Tai, then possibly the entire deal could be parlayed
¥ ncthing even more advantageous to “our side.” Operating on this logic,
States and South Victnamese officials decided to offer only Hoai, the
itator, for Ramsey. Nguyen Van Tai would remain in his exclusive

CIA was particularly adamant against surrendering Tai. As a senior
official later explained to me, Tai was a top Communist intelligence
ve; Ramsey was “no more than a Foreign Service officer.” Thus, to have
; one for the other would have been no act of reciprocity at all. The
ts would have gotten the better side of the deal. Besides, the agency
t0 trade Tai for a CIA officer who had been captured during the
iknsive.
Fben Dang's emissary telephoned on 27 November 1971, Embassy offi-
forward their counterproposal: Hoai alone for Ramsey. Tai’s status
negotiable. In addition, they asked for a list of all prisoners of every
ality who were being held by the Communists. What had begun as a
Bbs, albeit extraordinary, series of contacts between the two sides had now
Bl into a bid for the release of all prisoners of war.
en-days later the Communists gave their answer. Dang’s representa-
fined the Embassy that the counterproposal was unacceptable. Both
 Tai- would have to be traded for Ramscy. Otherwise: no deal.
, the CIA operative on the Embassy end of the line bad no
n to propose. He simply hung up—and that was that. In effect,
nt had just squandered a chance to obtain the release of an
ho had been a captive of the Communists for six years.
k next few days American officials from Saigon to Washington
Jtried to convince themselves they had done the right thing. Vietnam-
the CIA were particularly defensive, since they had been chiefly
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and 4 Days, then weeks, passed with no word from the other side. The Emy, ) .B-K..n-uon.. alist” on North Vietnamese .wn.wm_.m. it was .:.o:n? 1 .Emm_: be
accur: tried to provoke a response through cryptically worded advertisements :_wf. prod sufficient information from Tai to establish his “strategic value.
Saigon press, but the designated telephone line remained silent. the else had been able to do 0. L )
the On Easter weekend 1972 North Viet forces pl d acr E before 1 departed Washington for Saigon in October 1972, a senior 1
the m o the 11 bricfed me on the case, stressing the need for immediate progress.

%EES&.@& zone between North and South Vietnam in the most ambitjgy, 1
Communist offensive since Tet 1968. The Embassy and the Thieu governm, u
concluded that any further dealing on the prisoner issue was now out of N
question. the

In May, however, something happened to revive the prospects for Ram

‘the first 1 had heard of Tai or the proposed prisoner exchanges, even
) much of the initial dickering between Dang and the Embassy had taken

during my first tour in Saigon.

an interrogator would be given weeks to read into a case and

*s release. Government troo, ed inari
Emba sey'’s rel ps captured an old and battered Comm narity : 3¢ frioh i i
s m!.@ BoBvo_.|Zw_J ﬂ:«or one of Dang’s right-hand men and chief oﬂ.”” 1 his assault. [ was :.:.:2 .58 Tai's frigid white chamber almost im-
Defen propaganda and training” section of the Communist party in Saigon. Under sely upon my srrival in iy ilt, man who had kept himself in
. hough powerl D

masﬂowwmg. Quyet admitied that he knew of the earlier negotiations concern. . "} —
ing Ramsey and said he himself could now be traded for the American. Pluysical trim by doing hours of calisthenics each day in his thirty-by-
Inexplicably, South Vietnamese authorities did not inform the Embassy {900t cell. Only his face showed the ravages of his prolonged _aoFaou.|
of Quyet's proposal until mid-September. By then the Communist on.nnu:w ’ ; at, drawn mask, ashen-hued for lack of sunlight, the beard far heavier
was winding down and the Kissinger-Le Duc Tho negotiations in Paris were | i most Sn.anBo.w. since he was allowed tweczers Q.—E twice a 18_». 10
moving into a decisive stage. Against this backdrop, the idea of trading the old § 3 nl?n Disciplined to an extreme, he awoke automatically cach morning
Communist operative for Ramsey did not seem as attractive as it might have § Rwent through his exercises, read for half an hour from one of the French
earlier. While delighted to have a new line on the American prisoner, US. 3 mese books his jailers provided him, and then awsited breakfast.
officials also saw in the proposed deal the danger of acute political embarrass. d he repeated the routine, again and again throughout the day, until
ment to the Administration, at the very moment Kissinger least needed one. Bt himself 10 bed, automatically, at ten o’clock in the evening, never once
What if the Communists had briefed Ramsey on the earlier proposal and on fag scen the rising or setting of the sun.
Washington’s refusal to go through with it? Once relcased, he might well go 1 B ccording to the record of the case, he had only two discernibly exploit-
to the press with the story, and the result undoubtedly would be a massive ws, aside from his aversion to cold air. As a rising young party member i

popular backlash in the United States that would only add to the pressure for § joi in the early 19508 he had tried to prove himself to his superiors by
an immedjate Vietnam peace. ] g 10 prosecute and imprison his own father, a distinguished North
There were also parochial concerns. The CIA had a special reason to fear e writer with a bleak view of the Communist utopia. Since the
a full public disclosure. Since it had been instrumental in persuading Kissinger are powerfully family-oriented, such an act, no matter what the
and the White House not to accept the original two-for-one proposal for ha could only have been traumatic. In addition, Tai was made in the
Ramsey’s release, any public reaction would inevitably find its way to the Lot many of our own intelligence operatives. Having sacrificed so BE.“__
agency’s doorstep. The impact on the CIA's “public image” would be devastat- Biacif to his mission, he had been obliged to convince himself of its
ing ] Jpencas and of his own superior seuse of duty and morality. Persuade
he falsencss of any one of these premises and the whole personality
 to crumble.
elying both on my rusty French and a Vietnamese interpreter, I insulted
Woled, playing the insolent American with no respect for age or experi-
p¥le counterattacked, clinging to what remained of his cover story, but
il attempting to shicld his ego with half-truths about his exploits
WAy told me more, always added to his dossier. I volunteered the story
iR who had betrayed his father, and he flashed back “Don't try to trick
such claptrap”—while denying the story was relevant to him in any

&

Hastily, Administration and CIA officials devised a plan to protect them-
) -o_<.8. Before taking action on Quyet's suggestion, they moved to build 8.
airtight excuse for having bungled Ramsey’s release in the first place. Nguye? 3
Van Tati, the man whom they had considered “too important to be exchanged 3
for him in 1971, must now be shown to be the hottest property in Saigon’s
hands, as they claimed he was. His worth as an “intelligence source” would 3
have to be demonstrated in the form of immediate and concrete intelligenc®
“production” 50 no one could possibly object to the earlier decision not 1©
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<on.” e said at last. «will the ‘liberation forces’ be permitted
in the great-power conference in Geneva. We =Em~.=op be sold
K3 » § gaid I did not know. The seasoned revolutionary, in his mcnx.a.pr
; \be eve Of peace, Was wary of surrendering himself to the ultimate

case. “I'm a simple farmer who came south to support the liberation forceg . |
he insisted, but he could not bring himself to turn down books of French voz. 1
1 brought him—heavy fare for a simple farmer—or the Vietnamese Em.oaa
- of the United States. I also gave him an English grammar and he tried to F#D; s
himself some phrases between sessions. ;

As the weeks passed, the going got rougher—for both of us. Each day |
scheduled two or three bouts with him, two or three hours each, varying the;, §
times 5o as to throw off his internal clock. Then, some six weeks into the cas,
during a morning session, 1 accidentally discovered a small fracture in by i
fagade. 1 had been trying to spark some nostalgia by raising questions aboy,
his wife and children, whom he had not seen since he left North Vietnam i,
1962. Suddenly he grew very still. “I'cannot think about my wife and children,» §
he said. “The only way I can survive this is by putting all such hope aside. ;n_. ]
there are no illusions or disappointments.” ,
I spent the next few weeks trying to drive the wedge decper. What abo

1ast 1 saw of Nguyen Van Tai. South Vietnamese authorities
that [ had informed him of the Paris accord. They grumbled that
" o the only leverage they still had with him and had betrayed
gaith in me. They insisted the terms of the prisoner exchange did
to him, since he had never acknowledged his full identity.
Embassy took me off the case. Other American personnel likewise
jrawn from interrogation centers around the country, and the re-
for disposing of all Communist prisoners was turned over to the
in accordance with the U.S. government’s desire to end its

your wife? How old is she? Are your children still going to school? What wil]
you do if peace ever comes to Vietnam? There was a prisoner exchange at the

3 - I £ Eaah 1 A
ar and a hall er, as analystand-oreter forthe u.m:\c-

end of the Korcan War, after all. Perhaps you will be released. 3
His dossicr began to grow as he inadvertently let slip one detail after 3
another in his helpless grasping after the one hope he knew he could not afford.
1 reported the progress to Washington. My superiors seemed satisfied. ]
Since I was becoming such an expert on the case, my duties were ex- 3
panded. In November 1972 I was invited to take on two additional sources, Le , K. Ramsey. He had been released in early 1973, just after the
Van Hoai and Nam Quyet, the two other prisoners who had figured in the ‘pursuant to the terms of the accord. When I saw him he was still
proposals concerning Ramsey. Hoai, the labor agitator, turned out to be a g h a cane. His legs were partially disabled as a result of malnutrition
sniveling and easy subject who would betray top secrets for a cigarette or a : while a guest of Tran Bach Dang. He had spent most of those
candy bar. Nam Quyet was more difficult. Whenever I prodded him with in a small bamboo cage, just large enough for him to stand, ina
leading questions he would lapse into a fit of coughing, thereby tearing open prison camp near the Cambodian border. During my bricfing he
tubercular scars in his lungs and throat. As the interrogation continued, blood 3 one question, which held unintended irony. “How good is the
would begin oozing from his nose and mouth. He couldn't resist spitting underground subversive apparatus?”
mouthfuls at me. ) A b effective as it was before Tet 1968,” 1 replied. “Most of their
Nonetheless, by early January 1973 1 was beginning to generate usable eratives have been killed or captured.”
intelligence from all three sources. Tai scemed on the verge of collapse. Wash- after the collapse of South Vietnam, I visited Ramsey in Washing-
ington urged me on; the South Vietnamese advised that I apply strong-arm ealed to him the details of the intelligence operation that had very
tactics. Then, abruptly, the cease-fire brought all these interrogations to a full ht his release in 1971. It was the first time he had heard of it. His
stop. the State Department had not seen fit to inform him that he had
Ira year in a Communist prison camp because the CIA had not
important or valuable enough to be exchanged for Nguyen Van

i1 visitors from Washington on the status of the cease-fire. The
. 'was unique—ten or twelve American military officers and civilian
<41 of whom had once been prisoners of the Communists, either in
P& in South Vietnam. Among them was the man whose fate had been
tedy intertwined with that of Nguyen Van Tai and my other sources

In keeping with understandings reached in Paris, all prisoners of war held 3§
by the government and the Communists were to be informed of the terms of
the agreement, including the provision for prisoner exchange, within several
days of the signing. On 1 February 1973 I bricfed Hoai and Nam Quyet. Two
days later I informed Nguyen Van Tai.

He sat for a moment, trembling in the draft of the air conditioning. “If
what you tell me is true,” he said in French, “then this is the happiest day of
my life.” His face betrayed no emotion. His hands remained folded in his lap.
the sleeves of the gray pajama shirt hanging limp from his shoulders. “I have |

or Tai himself, there was no salutary ending to his ordeal. While both
M- Nam Quyet survived the Communist takeover in April 1975, he did
B before North Vietnamese tanks rolled into Saigon a senior CIA
ed to South Vietnamese authoritics that it would be useful if he
» Since Tai was a trained terrorist, he could hardly be expected
imous victor. The South Vietnamese agreed. Tai was loaded onto
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an airplane and thrown out at ten thousand feet over the South China Sea. A;
that point he had spent over four years in solitary canfinement, in a snow-white
room, without ever having fully admitted who he was.

This story is not unique. On several occasions during the last years of the
Vietnam war, the Communists secretly offered to release various American
prisoners, only to be held off by the U.S. government as it angled for “better
terms.” The CIA was particularly inflexible, usually insisting on strict reci-
procity, an intelligence operative for an intelligence operative, as if agency
personnel deserved first consideration over any other Americans who migh
be prisoners of the Communists. Douglas Ramsey was lucky. He lost only one
additional year of freedom as a result of such *gaming.” Others were not so
Iucky. They lost their lives or their health, to disease, malnutrition and Com.
munist abuse, as the haggling dragged on.*

*One other “‘player” in this pri h story app 1y also came to grief. A short while
before the cease-fire, Tran Bach Dang was summarily removed from his post as Communist party
chief in Saigon. One of the charges brought sgainst him by his superiors was “subjectivism,” 2
tendency to want to run the show in his own way, without due attention to mandates from above.

y-four hours after the cease-fire the outgoing’s still rattling Saigon’s

Reports have it that the PRG delegates to the Joint Military Commission

refused to disembark at Tan Son Nhut air base in protest over govern-
Bat customs regulations (to submit to them, they claim, would imply recogni-
bn of Thicu and his “clique™). To add to the confusion, the Hungarian and
representatives to the International Commission of Control and Super-
Jaion apparently are put out over their living accommodations at Tan Son
lhut. Thieu has offered them billets usually reserved for South Vietnamese
my dependents, but the proletarians from Eastern Europe feel they deserve
., ‘Group of Poles downtown yesterday: they nearly broke their necks cran-
“after the local beauties. A bunch of them apparently got thoroughly
ized in the “Golden Hands” Steam and Massage Parlor.

The first wave of prisoner exchanges went off like clockwork yesterday.
B 20 one in the Embassy seems interested. Despite the general elation about
oe and all that, some of us are suffering a kind of lover’s letdown. The
jon’s all spent. No great storm and strife to justify further self-indulgence.
f the pleasures are becoming dully routinized. Each evening the same
P of lard-bound colleagues gather at the rooftop bar on the restaurant
ad the Embassy for a few laughs and some booze. The jokes are as stale
e popcorn, and promptly at 7 P.M. the usual swarm of bats materializes
fannel of activity over the swimming pool in the courtyard.

TIt's hard to accept,” the Vietnamese girl I had known during my previ-
pur mused this afternoon over tea on the veranda of the Continental
b, “but the soothsayers around town say the Americans’ time has come.

ver you touch you now leave tainted and broken.” She's an educated

uary 29, 1973: Long 1ive the Vietnam peace, but kezp your head dowm.
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185 The Unraveling Hail-Fellow

to them and asked for comment, A few days later the: ;
him my conclusions were “about right.”* In other w.gmumn J__Mu N, aaag
chance for a negotiated settlement, though the level of uo..?_. ¢ way ol
increase in the weeks ahead. " was g

Polgar immediately cabled a summary of the Hungari....,
€s.mE=w8=. The Hungarians in turn alerted Hanoi to oEmh:..u_MaF
Politburo could adjust its plans and strategy accordingly, 1 e > g
best of motives Polgar had just handed the North Vietagnss e
w_.."son coup, one that provided an invaluable insight into what snozf

em.

developing a separate scenario for the evacuar
four military regions and, finally, Saigon.

procedural, rather than substantive, and a;
plan they retained was its arbitrary ceiling ¢
ees: no more than 6,800 in total, the majority .

ry, as the exercise continued, a DAO

jar and asked him if he wanted to participate
DAO was drawing up a contingency pla:
agents and high-ranking government offi
a similar requirement.

no; he saw no reason to become involve
military situation, he could not bring himself
er have to be abandoned or that a full evacua

- The newly highlighted prospects for a political solution
Polgar’s drumfire about the military threat. Congress had yet to

quently, we declassified and leaked to the press two recently captureg .
.

munist planning documents—with a commentary

ity of us in the Embassy labored over o
S alarmist propaganda, Ambassador Martin tr
.w-in-c_% In early February he packed up and
help buck up the Administration’s position in t
arrival he began agitating among Admit
sional contacts for a scheme close to his he
program sufficient to leave Saigon “‘economics

Eﬂw to convince any reader in Washington the North SQ_E_M".W

After one of my particularly vivid dissertations on the Communist g
. munist gy
w CIA 8:8%1 threw up his hands in dismay. “Good Christ!” he exclala
“You were telling us only a few weeks ago everything was secure, Now igé
as though we're facing the final reckoning.”
Such sentiments soon became widespread in the Embassy, and a e

. a8 , President Ford formally endorsed the overal
of my colleagues began planning for the worst. The Station’s admir k.

remained unimpressed. Schlesinger consi¢
the United States was prepared to cut Sz
nented to a reporter, why not now? Cor
:and several of the more cynical legislators cor
Mem was meant simply to win the Administrati
RWatil afier the next presidential election.
Bk such sniping in stride. The trouble, he assure
Rithe aid proposal itself, but in Congress’ persp
could be persuaded to send an official faci
ok into the situation, the opposition would mel:
Jtration in fact had long been in favor of such a ¢
. . fPebruary it offered to postpone all hearings on
commentary were i ingle package through ioos of 98 sl weeks 50 & team could be put together an
igon, as ?J&J...-«Sum..““& s d.._M_nB-B Documents E..“R nn-zp.lv.ml o (33w days, however, a flap developed over the £
by charter, is supposcd to be » vehicle for projecting America's best image S8 Rresentative Tom Harkin, a young Democrat fic
.  Navy pilot in Vietnam, announced that his inter
Pue other than Don Luce, constant critic of Ame
fome of Martin's pet demons. Representative Bel
. Manhattan, disclosed she was planning to

gether caches of arms and ammunition just in case they had to defend i
sclves against the onslaught, 4

. >~ n.rn same time the Defense Attaché’s Office and the Emb :
E.Emn.-,.l.ﬁ component took an even more drastic precaution. They 8§
updating the Embassy’s standing 400-page evacuation plan. (Each USH
bassy in the world has one, as a matter of routine.) Colonel Garvin MoOH
and Captain Cornelius Carmody, the Air Force and Navy Attachés, "
in charge of the project. Working with a small staff, they refincd parts{

ly. In fact, b , throughout the fire period the USIA's Sagt
urnalists through its “Documents” series intelligence which te CBf
rated and cor ics | had produced. My goad friend Jim Haley of USIA posti®
O;-EEBESEE-EREE.E.QEE. 2
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Polgar had decided to make further use of his grit and personal ¢g d and almost anyone else with an interest in ferreting out the Embassy’s
stationing him at Nghi’s imperiled headquarters. ; tingent had long ago seen through them.*
When my own office colleague, Joe Kingsley, had first learn@ : "ﬂ!:ﬂn. case, the cover problem had been compounded by bureaucratic

#

assignment, he had objected veh tly. Cc ist forces were ¥ . Within hours of his disappearance Station administrators discovered
fast, he had told Polgar, they might be able to overrun Phan Rang wigg |t uow._n could be quite sure what his cover was, whether he had been given
warning at all. But Polgar had refused to reconsider, and had merg] 2 g bassy cmployee™ designation or something more elaborate.

Taggart in Bien Hoa, who was “control officer” for the mission, ng
James on location overnight if an attack against Phan Rang scemed f

Incredibly, however, Taggart and Pittman, the backup man i§
had failed to take even this precaution and had left James in Phan R
after night despite the mounting Communist pressure. Taggart lateg
justify this to me by insisting the Station had not kept him adequately ig
of the developing threat at Phan Rang. He may have had a point, p
in view of Polgar’s reluctance to share alarming intelligence with his
nates. James himself may also have contributed to the confusion,;

Officials 3t CIA headquarters i diately began building a new cover for
fabeling him a “U.S. consular officer” so that if the press discovered he
£ missing, his agency affiliation could be concealed. This could hardly
B g James himself, of course. On the contrary, it could only do him harm,
Bks daving no idea what new label the CIA had given him, he could scarcely
4 it—or himself—credibly to his North Vietnamese interrogators.

The day after his capture NVA officers began grilling James on the spot.
{ Brst they threatened to beat him, then made good on their threat. Despite
former Special Forces officer, he enjoyed a good fight and had negh ke barsh treatment, he initially held firm, relying on the technique, so favored
keep Taggart or the Station as fully apprised of the evolving crisis as {§ Soviet agents, of feigning ignorance of anything but a fragment of the “big
have. E sture.”

In any case, the end came, on the morning of the sixteenth, fi ARer a week or so his captors, frustrated but determined to break him,
any of us had anticipated. I had just finished reading the morning inf tked him and the two South Vietnamese generals to Hanoi. There they

file when a radio message from James flooded in over the "Diamongs e em up in Son lay Prison, where co e5s American fliers had
transceiver in the communications room next to my office. Joe Kin pd out their capture years before, and began putting James through inten-
I were at the console immediately. Through a hash of static James imterrogation, eventually confronting him with a large dossier that had
that he, Nghi and Brigadier General Pham Ngoc Sang, commander g o compiled from “sources™ in Laos, where he had once served. The file
Air Division, were in a bunker together. They were all right, he said, Mestified him unequivocably as a CIA officer, largely on the basis of testimony
Vietnamese tanks were even then probing the perimeter. Joe told r a Laotian who had known him well. From that point on, it was utterly
would send a chopper to pull him out at once. No, James replied, th for him to try to deny knowledge of the CIA, its operations or its agents.
necessary, not yet anyway. ARVN forces were still holding. Besides, N : - The breaking of Lew James was, in large measure, a reflection on the
his own chopper. E itude of those for whom he worked. The young CIA officer had been sent
At that moment Howard Archer, the former Nha Trang B 8 En_num and dangerous assignment with little guidance or protection from
walked in on us. Seizing the microphone, he asked James to d Station. If he betrayed certain “secrets,” CIA management, not James,
predicament. He then made a decision, one that left Kingsley G answer first.
tounded. James was to stay in place for the time being, he said, but 95.. a half year after the fall of South Vietnam, James was freed by Hanoi
in every half-hour to assure us he was okay. So ended our last radi¢’ with the handful of westerners captured at Ban Me Thuot) under a
with Lew James. 1onal arrangement” worked out by the CIA through another western
When Communist forces moved into the city hours later, they “Tice organization. He was indeed the last CIA operative in Vietnam.
Nghi and Sang under arrest. Liberation Radio soon disclosed the ¢ : F.E,__
the two Vietnamese, but failed to mention the American, In Saigof) Miingh ¢, E“i such “cover™ ly had never troubled CIA headquarters, at least not

- . ] Pt a change. With the \ iditary i
the omission as a sign the CIA man had escaped—or had been kill s A hag 1o ge. With the departure of the U.S. military in the wake of the ceasefire,

.s&Z:zB..: ...... .
. . R . N ™ Qviiy 58<ﬂ.-§uE<§EA2§<%Er$aﬂnEﬂn§
the North Vietnamese were keeping silent about him until they d cmployees of the Army.) Since then, the personnel office in Langley had been unable
trovnswu.

L ™ P a credible alternative. As s result, many CIA officers ended up with almost no cover
Unraveling his identity turned out to be fairly easy. Like so 1

constantly faced exposure by Vietnamese, Hungarian or Polish intelligence operatives.
James had been sent to Vietnam under “light cover,” his official ¢
describing him as an “employee of the U.S. Embassy” and a “Forel
Reserve Officer.” These titles were transparent. Journalists, Vie!
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and fell one story to the Parapet around the roof of the building,
d was medevacked out at once. Ag Moo .
dered up to the sixth floor one of the marines collared him and asked
stand in for the injured trooper. Moorefield wearily agreed.
“It really wasn’t much of a job,” he later explained. “Ag each Jj
of evacuees got to the door leading y,

p to the roof, I'd brief them,
them up to the pad itself and help them onto the chopper.

*“My most vivid memory is of how tired I was, S0 very tired. | hady’
in over two days, except for that one hour I'd caught at home the night he
But I knew I couldn't fall asleep. There was no one to take my plag

“It was all business up there on the roof. No one spoke and we
about our work with extreme care and attention. The prop blast
choppers was, of course, gale force, and since there were no guard rails
the pad, you had to be careful you didn’t stumble and get blown over
like the marine.

*“At the edge of the roof the smokestacks from incinerators on

below were still going full blast, belching flames and smoke high into
And on takeoff the ngvva.v.

being blinded. The scene kinda remi
Embassy flaming away into the night.
“Soon after I took up station on the roof, the marines d-the B

Ct

Severeatne Emt

grounds from the recreation compound out back and sealed the door. By
lights stayed on over there, and from my airy perch I could see the
gleefully picking through the ruins, The atmosphere was almost carnival.
The mama-sans were carrying away everything that wasn't bolted d
curtains, chairs, silverware, literally everything! The swimming pool was
with junk, and in the parking lot beside the restaurant all the abande
automobiles were running. The looters were playing bumper cars with th
“On the other side of the Embassy, out front in the street, I could see W,

their.deed on the Embassy’s own doorstep.

“In the distance I could see fires still burning in the Tan Son Nhut-
Hoa area, and tracer rounds sporadically reaching up after our jets. Over
trees I caught glimpses of the city itself—so dead, so quiet. It was as if we v

in an interlude between the changing of the guard, the old regime, the old way
of life giving way to the new.”

Below the helicopter Pad, in his abandoned office on the sixth floor of the |

Embassy, Tom Polgar had just finished beating out a cable to Washington ot
his old manual typewriter. It was something of a historic communication, het
he pointed out in the first few lines: “*With receipt presidential message advis~

ng {
Station-
Em—v.. uvm.u—.o
mission-

be wa

Gt el e N

. before 0345 local
tion American Embassy E:.% be SBEQN.S ge from Saigon
hat h to advise that this will be final messa ment. Accord-
. ”ﬂ”w “__M.n us about twenty minutes to nﬂ»:w_m_ mﬂm——_”.—wvn_wm&m ed trans-
X local time we must te
ximately 0320 hours

uently philosophical, as if he knew

In e 18: _uw_.wm”nw“ EW”_:._,“MM “om—wa w:.o_. messages rnr_ .—.wmtmw—:h_ ”M

; i::.ﬁ ot nonmu. what he said revealed more about mm o
233_56:.““._“owmuno“o:n_wnw:na and realities m.. the Bomﬂm:w.n ..owo wo_.wﬁ
sions than abo it offensive three mor  Polgar
" e in MM"WMnomh.:w_.nwm._o:w_ vwaw:x.v:wﬂ Ewmwa_x.”ﬂ__ﬂu B.xh:
remained o@:ﬁ:o hrase—was the cause of wEwo:. ) E.ao:_n. e e
e Q:nrh“ and we have lost,” he wrote. 1—.——% nuwo..wn::mn miae
; 5.&%:% _Uwhwhm United States does not signal necessarily the
in the histo

- .
ted States as a world power. The seventy of the defeat and the circum-
Unil

f the policies of
call for a reassessment Ol olicies
: r, would seem to . r icipation
m::_nnw M.. MWMWM‘MMME.Q which have nrﬁuﬁo&ﬂu& JMM. %Mwm__“ ivﬁo—.ngcn:&:_q
niggardly : f manpower and resou! h

f mmitment of manpower t it. Let us
here despite the co ho fail to learn from history are mo...oon to ”_nvonarwﬂ we have
B .;omnm” not have another Vietnam experience an
b we W

learned our _83_... "
“Saigon signing off.

i by was
t, CIA Director Col
i ost at the same moment, CIA ally
In fﬁ:..:maa. M_ .”_ message to Polgar, ir_o_.— in :.m way to”u..nwn y
comBlELg 1 e ap h end of communication with Saigon,

“ . . ith the job that
memorable, “As we approac 's pride and satisfaction with the jot

« i record Agency'’s pi L -odd-year history
serted, : iw%ﬁhr%mo:_onn. and at no time during its twenty-odd-y
its represen

i ity, dedica-
The courage, EKw:&..
is thi in these past few wecks. Tt a grty, dodicar
M e i hi b oo arw-”n_“oM the MMM:Q displayed in a variety ﬂ.:u_._a—_u_w 1—.9452-8
e bern fully matched and even surpassed by y e
P <Q_w__uw MMG.H:?&%—ES Thousands of Vietnamese owe
during this diffic

i ly from
has profited immense
rts, your Government 1l one day
e oD O eh of your reporting and your country wi nd ideals.
the accuracy and breadth of ¥ ed its best instincts a

t
learn with admiration of the 2.”& you represen
Good luck and many thanks.

’ . . tift from the
brief lull in the helo- 4
A.M. there was another eached the en:
:w_ﬂ_ﬁ.%“ Fearful that the USS. B___,_.Emhﬁwﬁ__w__”ug which, he
courtyard. b . ore big - luc-
: for at least six m S - : und. Relu
wm s tether, __MM.—MMMV. accommodate all the n_s_.S:m in —Nrﬂ ““.wana choppers
qﬂﬂﬁﬁa@”ﬂﬂ:ﬁ agreed. Within the next forty E_“Emﬁ nvnww%w remaining com-
antly 1 . he meantime, the Em! A igined the
landed in nEo.M E.Mnm”“ﬂm n__afhrwy was left of their radio gear and joine!
munications office

i i 00
diminishing passenger lines on the sixth fi




SO0 o
T

Since OOO-WG Jacobson, the Ambassador’s MUOOE Assistan
3
ovﬁ—wzoa szm OV was ~8~=.=Oﬁ=< mn O~S-Nn of the latte
r p

ger o

IR

m the Communists of whose capture could prejudice American intelli-
terests were left behind. Among them: the 400 members of the Special

evacuation, it is noteworthy that .

“.M_Mn to get out. That in Mwo_w uw.“—...aﬂﬂuﬂm“”ﬂnh.“”mm N wuhmnnno__w;:o? whose training the CIA had financed and e ot

ersbip the Ambassador imposed on us in Sigen's M”W_Qnuw” b yorking echelon members of the Central Intelligence Onmwiuwzow:.. “._wo M__M
ation ha

Among those on Jacobson®
. n's own evacuee rolls who X
“nw__.mr“-”uoi_&wgzn Communist defector who had _H..M”“M—w s
years wit WE. most comprehensive data on COSVN and its o
ey %o ..n. ownhww_m:ur”u .MM.SM& to evacuate him, but not Euﬂoio. .
they wee of ¢ ge. The defector, needless to say, had refused to
Jacobson also bungled the i
ead e evacuation of Nay Luett
er, for whom he had assumed responsibility. ﬁ«.ﬁ“oimrm ww Hu "

rendezvous point on the final Qﬂ< of the w: Wi Vi
C N 1 iailed him.*
ar, but was never ﬂ—ﬂf& {

e . ‘

vacusia, ot et behin, romained Budden nwy i ngoney vact
, or , remain idden away i

months following the Communist victory. Yet un<n_.<w__...-v.w M.@oﬂMWE”EJ

imnci OU AECa 1 wiha [TA0 3K DIACE SH
wh : ACE, SAW 10 AT ba
e nm HNMM .“<w.o_ww—m. .8 n-mnn. According to these "ug_nmo:m. only Mg:._
N s indigenous employees™ . 2
o ) . nployees™ were finall
v Smﬂoo.o.ro_@lsn_:&un family members—who _.wa%!.“:aon.
ot with the agency over the years culoyed 71
was true of other elements of ' issi
. the M s .
oOonc-”.o.“ hwn the Station’s most successful ..a“wm.“oumd_“m:.wasw_ @En:.._cb.
Oenera .ﬂ.ﬂozg and orders from Saigon, “Larry Uorau«‘ omn.n CIA,
el nﬂuﬁ%& to n.<n9§o by helicopter all 300 Vietnamese
r Simil Bwo. by ignoring Polgar and operating in secret, Bill
ncnoo&. = toongh 4.\Ew the employees of the radio station Eocu.n 7 and
_.wBEan._&. Oo:::ﬂ%.oﬂ. people) to Phu Quoc Island, from which they wi :
o atdenme sl w: wM“ m«—“&ﬁn”.—.— cnnm working on their own or wit!
nconﬂ_ . at Vietnamese friends and co-work
nf .

divid %Mno.”_.“m"n_«... however, the imagination and perseverence of 8!
not compensate for the ineptitude of Station managems

a whole.
ole. Consequently, large categories of Vietnamese who faced unto

3

same kind of results. Of the
573 locals on the Late" "
_-.M_. the CIA), only 47 were among the 200 o _Su b Lists ( those who
.r<2 to the sea. people who sailed with MacNamara down the
uette's fellow montagnard tribesm
sle rsponsitlly for i Of e e i cenainly 405, i
reception ha.nab e-ﬂ ﬁez.a? ounly around eighty had gdwnnuas at the Guss
..n...znan Nungs and forty pdrdiy .ﬂ.mon.%mm-ﬂhoaa ethnic minorities: only about 858
en, an unkno . turned .
u wn number have escaped from Vietnam on .:rvn“:ow:—-w:. by the ._-H—nsln?

tudi
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and intelligence
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the staff which maintained
the hundred or
had collected

keep book on PRG personalities;

including maids, waitresses and agents, who
on the final day; several agents from Bien Hoa; the 70
“Harry Linden” had tried to rescue; literally hundreds of
who had worked closely with the Station over the years

and hunt down their former Communist comrades; and countless

Then too, to compound our errors and their costs, we committed that

‘mistake of failing to ensure the destruction of the personnel files
dossiers we had helped the government assemble—and which
outside the gates of the

identified so many of those left on, the tarmac or
bas qually unfortunate, the capture and interrogation of the young
CIA officer “Lew James,” led to the exposuIe o information_that struck
directly at our own operations.

another authority

Although the Station bore no immediate responsibility,
as lost to the Communists at the time of the collapse.
During the last week in April 8 retired CIA officer named Tucker Gou-
gelmann, who had previously worked in Saigon, returned to look for Viet-
i 5 final helo-lift, and was later captured by
the North Vietnamese. Interrogated by the Soviet KGB and other intelligence
organizations, he died in captivity a year jater. What he disclosed under
questioning has not been determined. His knowledge of CIA operations and
personnel both in Vietnam and clsewhere in Asia was considerable.

The full impact of CIA losses and failures in Vietnam will probably never
be known. There are too many unansWered questions. But based on what can
be ascertained, it is not t00 much to say that in terms of S_an_.on lives,
blown secrets and the betrayal of agents, friends and collaborators, our han-
dling of the evacuation was an institutional disgrace. Not since the abortive
.m@ of Pigs invasion of 1961 had the agency put so much on the line, and lost
it through stupidity and mismanagement.

But lives and secrets were not the only items of value forfeited to poor
American planning. Despite Erich Von Marbod's last-minute salvage efforts,
cquipment losses resulting from Saigon’s defeat were massive. NVA forces,
mn.Q.:&:m to Pentagon estimates, captured over $5 billion in U.S.-supplied
military hardware, including 550 tanks, 73 F-5 jet fighters, 1,300 artillery
pieces, 1,600,000 rifles and enough other matériel to field an entire army, aif
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the ballots, and the lists of candidates had all been carcfully screened by the
party beforchand. A few weeks later, on 2 July, the eclipse of the southern
“revolution” and its spokesmen became complete. Hanoi formally declared the
country unified under its control. The president of the National Liberation
Front was reduced to a ceremonial vice-presidential post in Hanoi and the
PRG’s well-known Foreign Minister, Nguyen Thi Binh, likewise found herself
in a position of minor consequence. Eventually the National Liberation Front
was dissolved.

Within a year of their victory the Communists also moved decisively to
crush all potential or actual oppasition. Organized religion was among their
first targets. The leaders of the bitterly anti-Communist Hoa Hao Buddhist
sect in the delta were jailed; the An Quang Buddhist Pagoda, once the center
of militant opposition to the Saigon regime, was closed down; religious publi-
cations were stopped and over 200 Catholic prelates were arrested and impris-
oned, including the Bishops of Danang and Nha Trang and the Reverend Tran
Huu Thanh, the fire-breathing priest who had led the anti-corruption drive
against Thieu in the fall of 1974. Ironicatly, the Communists arrested Thanh
on charges of being a “CIA agent.”

. r mea es, hOw

ostdraconianof Hane were directed

no

inning

at former government officials and military personnel. By Hanoi’s own admis-
sion, over 200,000 of them were sent to reeducation camps in the first year.
Located in remote areas, often close to former Communist bases, the camps
resembled something out of Solzhenitsyn. In one, near Tay Ninh, inmates were
obliged to perform every manner of demeaning and dangerous task, from
cleaning out the toilets of party cadres to deactivating minefields, often with
no training or proper equipment. In another, outside Nha Trang, over fifty
people were assigned to cach cell. The daily food ration amounted to no more
than 200 grams of rice, barely enough for subsistence, with seldom any meat
or even fish sauce to provide nceded protein. Malnutrition and attendant
diseases like beriberi thus became widespread. Every six months each inmate
received a change of pajamas, and once a week a bucket of water to cleanse
himself. Every two months he and his family were allowed to exchange short
letters, the format of which was dictated by authorities.

Occasionally torture and even execution were meted out to intransigents.
According to one widely repeated refugee account, a camp near Saigon, which
had been given over to former police officials, was burned to the ground with
the inmates inside after the authorities discovered that privation alone could
not break their spirit. It was also reported that NVA forces systematically
eliminated many of those who had “rallied” to the government from their
ranks during the war.

In June 1976 Hanoi announced that twelve categories of people still under
detention (unofficially a Communist official in Saigon acknowledged that the
number still approximated 200,000) were 0 be tried by people’s courts and
“severely punished.” Among those singled out were “lackeys of imperialism”

and veterans of Thieu's puppet regime who refused “to repent their crimes”
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The trends that emerged during the first two years of Communist rule
were not passing aberrations. In the winter of 1976 a party Congress, the first
since 1960, was convened in Hanoi to ratify a five-year development program
= that preserved and claborated on the policies that had already been set out.
E The Politburo and the party Central Committee also were expanded to include
allies and protégés of hard-liners like Le Duan. One of the newly appointed
Politburo members, a man named Le Van Luong, was of special interest to me.
An old-line Stalinist who had engineered the bloody land-reform program in
North Vietnam in the mid-1950s, Luong happened to be the uncle of someone
I had known well at the time of the cease-fire—Nguyen Van Tai, the man in
the snow-white cell who had been exccuted just hours before Communist

forces rolled into Saigon.

Although the rulers of the new Vietnam continued in the wake of their
victory to pay lip service to the ideal of Communist solidarity, they soon
discovered that they could not count on the kind of support from their allies
hey had enjoyed in the past. Indeed, once the war had been won and the

humiliation of the United States was complete, the Soviets and the Chinese
began cutting back their aid to Hanoi, canceling non-refundable grants alto-
gether, and it quickly became apparent to Le Duan and his colleagues that they
would have to look elsewhere for benefactors. The prospect of secking assist-
ance even from the United States itself became a very real consideration.
The Americans themselves made the first overtures. A select Congres-
sional delegation visited Hanoi in December 1975 to seck information on the
2,700 American servicemen still missing in action, and several weeks later
Senator Edward Kennedy asked the Communists to repatriatc the remains of
the two young marines who had been killed in the shelling of Tan Son Nhut
on the last day of the war. In March 1976 Kissinger himself initiated a secret
exchange of diplomatic notes. *“The interests of peace and security,” he wrote
to Hanoi, “will benefit from placing the past behind us and developing the basis
for a new relationship between the two countries.” For the next few months
the dialogue continued sporadically as Hanoi insisted on $4.2 billion in aid
from the United States—a figure Nixon had mentioned secretly at the time of
the cease-fire—as the price for further dealings. By August, however, it was
apparent that Washington would not bend to this demand, and Hanoi in a
dramatic turnabout released the names of twelve missing American pilots as
a gesture of good will.

That opened the door. When the Carter Administration took office several
months later, it chose to overlook the human-rights problems in Vietnam and
soon sent a presidential commission to Hanoi to explore new avenues of
conciliation. In May 1977 American and Vietnamese negotiators met around
an oval table in Paris to begin concrete discussions. .

The bargaining was bound to be difficult, particularly since a majority in
Congress remained opposed to Hanoi's aid demands, and Le Duan was deter-
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ARVN generals were brought together in one of the old metal barracks. An
exhausted General Toan, the former MR 3 commander, was pushed into the
meeting in a wheelchair, and General Truong, the defender of Danang, was
suffering from such an acute case of conjunctivitis he could not find his way
to a chair. Moments later an American naval officer marched in and demanded
that the generals remove their uniforms. “Can’t we at least keep our shoulder
7 one of them asked. “No,” the American feplied. *“You have no army,

stars
* It was as if the Republic of Vietnam had never existed

no country any more.
at all.

When the U.S. naval task force docked in Manila on 5 May, 1 was flown
immediately to Thailand on “special assignment,” to debrief journalists and
refugees still trickling out of Vietnam.*

From my interviews I produced the first intelligence on the Communist
takeover, and was instrumental in setting up a kind of underground railway
back into Vietnam to ferret out other refugees. My diligence, however, was not
appreciated at CIA headquarters. Some of the information I gathered only
served to highlight the failures of agency management. After a month I was
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I reached CIA headquarters in August after a brief vacation (my first in
two and a half years) and was “processed in” through Ted Shackley’s East
Asia Division. Like all returnees, 1 was directed to fill out an affidavit which
in effect attributed the breakdown of the evacuation to “local enemy action.”
I refused to sign it. Instead I went from office to office, asking for permission
to do a real “damage assessment” so that the agency could learn from its
mistakes. I was told no one was interested in anything so *“controversial.”

Polgar, meanwhile, was quickly shunted off into a new assignment. Not
one ranking official in Shackley’s division ever bothered to question him on the
evacuation or on the personalities or documents left behind.

Having spent so much time overseas, 1 was virtually unknown to my
fellow CIA “analysts” when I returned to Langley and could find no job in
my own old “home” office. Out of sympathy for my predicament, Polgar
invited me to accompany him to his own next posting abroad. 1 agreed and
was immediately placed in special language training.

But soon several things happened to cause me to reconsider. In mid-
August the Foreign Service Institute invited Polgar to deliver a lecture on the
evacuation to a “cleared” audience of State Departnent officers. He was
unable to oblige, but asked me to stand in for him. did so, turning the briefing
into a full-fledged commentary on what had taken place during Saigon’s final
days. When Shackley learned of it he was furious.

*My reassignment was not without complications. So confused had the tion been, the CIA
lost track of me b Manila and Bangkok. Before thinking to consult the cable traffic to

u:...vo._:_ my whereabouts, agency officials contacted my parents to tell them I was missing in
action. The error was not corrected for several days.
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—and silent. Martin himself, briefly hospitalized as the result of complications

g from his p ynia, was given a presidential citation. Lehmann was
designated Consul General in Frankfurt, and Boudreau and Jazynka were
assigned to plush administrative posts in Paris.

Several Kissinger associates suggested that the young State Department
officers whose diligence and imagination had actually saved the evacuation be
rewarded as well. But Martin and Lehmann (with Kissinger's support) balked
at this, claiming that there were simply “t00 many.” As a result, prior to
Gerald Ford’s defeat in the 1976 presidential elections, only two of the middle-
level State Department officers who had taken part in the evacuation were
given any recognition at all. The Foreign Service Association, in effect the State
Department union, cited both Lionel Rosenblatt and Craig Johnstone, organ-
izers of the luncheon group “conspirators,” for their services during the crisis.

The CIA, to its credit, was more generous in honoring its Vietnam
“heroes,” though at times it gave less than due attention to matching rewards
with deserts. “Howard Archer,” the former Base Chief in Nha Trang who had
abandoned both employees and documents, was clevated to the staff Colby
created to defend the agency against Congressional inquiries, and “Custer,”
his counterpart from D g, was named Chief of an important CIA Station

m onfidene

In e

4 : onfidenee—is ycolteagues and supeni e
HMMM_. E%? mn<o_.w._ former Saigon Station officers, Ewwnv:m MMM_u__M“M y 1!
in by the CIA’s Inspector General and asked to provide “backgro

able light.

As my interview drew to a cl
. i ose, T asked to be allowed
MMM_on__:m””W _.MM hro mgmoa.m performance in the final days so that Wom“_.w n
around, as it should be, But my interviewer rej .
ul ; n ould rejected the p
MwﬁSOM Wﬂuw__n&&.. .In explained that his own inquiry SE_EQE» wmn_.:v?
: ammunition” with which i
into CIA activities in Vietnam. 10 fend off any Congressional p
His remarks confirmed all of my grimmest suspicions. I resolved then

write a damage assessment on m own, wh iked i
T had to 1 pament on Mu . , Whether the agency liked it or not,

M.»n_w_”h_on_: v_.NBUzw slapped a classified label on the project so that none
i, Pt av«wh-“ MM:E talk to newsmen without authorization. In the m
ovo.. he ite House and :...n mawnn Department parceled out honors

1Ce€ jobs to members of Martin’s immediate entourage to keep them con!

in Asia. In late December 1975 agency management called other Vietnam
veterans together in the CIA’s bubble-shaped auditorium and handed out a
variety of classified medals—secret awards for secret accomplishments. The
citation which accompanied my own Medal of Merit applauded my analytical
acuity during the final month of the war.

In his remarks at the ceremony Colby commended us all for our sacrifice
and service and vigorously defended American policies in Vietnam, particu-
larly the Phoenix and pacification programs, which he suggested would have
won the war had it not been for the North Vietnamese army. I sat there,
listening to this nc and wondering what had happened to the CIA I had
thought I was serving.

A few days later I advised George Carver, co-author of the Weyand
Report, that I would like to write a book on the cease-fire period, with the
agency's blessings and help. Carver gave me no encouragement. Not long
afterward I was summoned to the office of the CIA’s chief legal counsel and
put through a classic interrogation, one interviewer playing the sympathetic
listener, the other the accuser. My motives and my integrity were impugned.
I was ordered to submit to a lie-detector test to “cnsurc” I had leaked no
classified information to the press, and to turn over any personal notes or
diaries I might have kept while in Vietnam. That evening, three weeks after

the CIA had given me one of its highest awards, ] announced to my immediate
superior that I was resigning in protest.

Once I had severed my ties, CIA officials tried to discredit me with former
colleagues. Memos advising everyone not to talk with me were circulated
around the headquarters building, as if I were on the verge of betraying
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the 1,000 Vietnamese employees of House 7, the clandestine radio station,
whom in fact Bill Johnson had evacuated over Polgar’s objections. On this
somewhat melancholy note, our conversation ended. I never saw Polgar again.

Several weeks later I traveled to Paris to seek background material for my
book. Among others, I talked with officials of the Vietnamese Communist
Embassy. I asked them to convey a list of questions from me to General Dung
in Hanoi and requested that as a gesture of good will they arrange for the
return of some of Ambassador Martin’s household belongings, which he had
abandoned in Saigon. In a more general vein I urged them to be more forth-
coming with the United States on the issue of American servicemen missing
in action and provided them with some information on current public attitudes
in the United States, particularly the apathy toward Vietnam, about which
they knew nothing. Soon afterward, whether by coincidence or not, Hanoi
provided Washington with the list of twelve missing servicemen that was to
open the way to more candid dealings.

When I returned home I informed both the CIA and the State Depart-
ment of my activities and pleaded with friends in the Administration to accel-

erate official contacts with Hanoi, if only to provide the Con ists with an
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incentive to case up on their treatment of those we had left behind. For my
trouble the CIA stepped up its harassment tactics against me.

Because of its continued assaults on my integrity, and its reluctance to
deal candidly with the Vietnam issue, I eventually stopped meeting with the
case officer the agency had assigned to me. I also resolved not to submit my
manuscript to the agency for clearance and censorship, as all former em-
ployees-turned-author are required to do. In my view, if the CIA could offi-
cially leak to the press to whitewash its role in Vietnam, it had forfeited the
right to censor me in the name of security or national interest.

While I struggled over draft after draft of my book, Graham Martin
continued his quest for public vindication. At his insistence, the White House
nominated him in the fall of 1976, just prior to the presidential elections, for
the post of ambassador-at-large. Once the proposal was submitted to Congress,
however, some of Martin’s old enemies managed to tie it up in committee,
where it languished.

The presidential elections wrote an end to Martin’s hopes, and from then
on he could only reconcile himself to the prospect of retirement.* He made
one last effort, however, to refurbish his image. In the final days of the Ford
Administration he recommended to Kissinger that some of the young State
Department officers from Saigon be finally recognized for their services. Yet
even in this moment of magnanimity Martin could not quite divest himself of
the prejudices and parochialism that had so marred his management of the

Embassy. Many of those he recommended for citation were old protégés.

*Two of Martin's severest critics rose to top posts in the Carter Administration. Habib was
appointed Undersecretary of State—the second highest position in the State Depariment—and
Dick Moose, thor of the M Mi report for the Senate Foreign Relations Commit-
tee, became an Assistant Secretary.
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a former intelligence officer [ must believe, perhaps naively, that right decisions
taken at appropriate moments on the basis of accurate information might have
averted the outcome, or at least have modified it. This view would undoubtedly
find favor among many Vietnamese, both North and South. For it is one of
the ancient tenets of their culture that while there may be a predisposition
toward certain events, nothing is predetermined and men who understand the
forces at work can alter their direction.

Clearly, Henry Kissinger was the American who most directly affected
the forces at work in Vietnam as it emerged from the cease-fire. He negotiated
the “peace” and shaped American policies in the aftermath. In both instances
his handiwork was faulty and too hastily done. But was he to be blamed for
that? The American people wanted out of Vietnam under any circumstances,
as quickly as possible, and if Kissinger erred in obliging them, he did so in
deference to sensitivities and frustrations that traced back to the mistakes of
the Kennedy and Johnson Administrations before him.

Following the cease-fire, Kissinger erred again by placing his trust in
Soviet and Chinese cooperation and in the efficacy—and continued availability
—of American aid to Saigon as a shield against North Vietnamese aggressive-
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Of all of Kissinger’s mistakes in the realm of Vietnam policy, perhaps only
two fit clearly into the category of “all his own.” One of them stemmed from
his way of doing business, his penchant for the virtuoso performance. Deter-
mined to do just about everything himself, he failed to delegate any real
oversight responsibility for Vietnam to his subordinates. Consequently, as his
own attention became diverted by the Middle East and other problems, Wash-
ington lost sight, and control, of its most enduring crisis. By the time the crisis
boiled over, there was only one perspective on it—Graham Martin’s.

Then, too, Kissinger, with his addiction to secrecy, never quite leveled
with Congress or the American people about what was essential to preserving
his imperfect peace. Martin once remarked to me that the greatest tragedy of
the cease-fire period was that the Paris agreement had never been submitted
to Congress for approval, like the peace treaty it was supposed to be. If it had
been, Congress at least would have known what was at stake in Vietnam as
it moved to circumscribe the President’s war-making powers in reaction to

Watergate.

Next to Kissinger, Martin must of course bear primary responsibility for
what occurred in the end. The Administration’s statking horse, he was sent to
Saigon in the wake of the cease-fire to make sure that Kissinger’s peace did
not become the ticket for a Communist takeover. His “mistake” was that he
did his job too well—and too long. His hard-line views, a reflection of Nixon’s,
strengthened the South Vietnamese in their own intransigence and in their
dependence on the United States, and when finally the bombing was halted and

Nixon succumbed to his own excesses, neither the protégés nor the Ambassa-
dor was able to shift course in time, in the direction of compromise. On the
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contrary, Martin through manipulation and force of will tried to create an
illusion of continued support in Washington to stiffen Thieu’s back, only 1,
drive him further into his stubbornness and misapprehension. Martin erred in
this, to be sure. But was he to blame? If he continued to try to remold reality
in the image of what he thought it should be, it was because Kissinger ang
eventually President Ford were only too willing to share his illusions.
Beyond the phalanx of known names and reputations, there are others
who must answer for Saigon's demise and for the way it happened. Not the
least of these are the American people themselves. True, the sense of revulsion
that spread through the country in the late 1960s and early *70s helped to bring
the Vietnam war to its first tentative conclusion and forced an end to the
barbarity of the American involvement. But once the boys had come home,
that “gone-with-the-wind” syndrome that eventually afflicted much of the
foreign policy establishment itself also took its toll on the population at large,
sweeping Vietnam from our collective consciousness and giving rise to a com-
placency and indifference among us that enabled a few very powerful men to
continue pursuing policies and tactics that had already been brought into

.... < HRess-shouldoe-a-warnnng, for b

the time General Dung’s forces moved on Saigon in April 1975 many of the
mistakes and omissions that had plunged us into Vietnam in the first place had
been replayed in miniature. Two Presidents had misled Congress; the Ambas.
sador had overdrawn the prospects for success; and onr protégés in Saigon had
been tolerated in their most self-defeating policies. It was as if the lessons of
the past had already been forgotten at the top levels of our government.

Hopefully, with the passage of time and healing of the national trauma
inflicted by the war, we will be able to give history its due, a complete and
unflinching retrospective, extending beyond the platitudes and recriminations
that till now have blinded so many of us to what actually happened to Vietnam,
and to ourselves, in the two years following the Paris peace agreement. If we
fail to seize the opportunity, and continue to treat Vietnam as an aberration,
painfully remembered and best forgotten, particularly in its death throes, then
we cannot hope to escape the kind of leadership both in the intelligence field
and in the policy-making arena that made Saigon’s “decent interval” such an
indecent end to this American tragedy.
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